Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

State Land Board v. State Department of Fish and Game: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal to determine whether sand and gravel are mineral in character within the reservation of Section 65-1-16, U. C. A. 1953, and in the event such substances are considered to be mineral, then to further determine whether the State Land Board is required to obtain the consent of the State agency using or holding the land whereon the sand and gravel are situated, under the provisions of Section 65-7-10, U. C. A. 1953.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The lower court held that sand and gravel were mineral in character and, therefore, reserved to the State under Section 65-1-16, and further held that the Land Board had authority to lease sand and gravel as minerals without obtaining the consent of the State agency using and holding the land.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant on appeal requests the court to classify sand and gravel as non-mineral in character, or in the alternative, to hold that, even if they are mineral in character, they may only be leased by the Land Board after it obtains the consent of the State agency utilizing the lands where the sand and gravel are situated.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The land in question is owned by the Utah State Department of Fish and Game and is all of Section 32, T. 3 S., R. 25 E., S. L. M. This land was a State school section which was sold under contract to a private party, and a patent from the State of Utah duly and regularly issued to said purchaser under date of March 18, 1946, "reserving to the State of Utah, all coal and other minerals in the above lands and to it, or persons authorized by it, the right to prospect for, mine and remove coal and other minerals from the same * * " (Exhibits P-1, P-2).

The Department of Fish and Game thereafter purchased the land in question from the private party, with the private party reserving minerals in the same language that the State had reserved minerals in the patent (T. 2). In the late fall of 1963, the Land Board advised the Department of Fish and Game that it intended to lease the subject land for sand and gravel purposes to a party who had made application for such lease, and the Department of Fish and Game replied that sand and gravel were not considered to be minerals under rulings of the Attorney General's Office, and that further, the Land Board was required to obtain the consent of the Department of Fish and Game prior to leasing any minerals on lands owned and controlled by the Department, and that the Department could not give its consent to a surface stripping of sand and gravel materials (T. 3 and 4). Thereafter the Land Board instituted the present litigation for a determination that sand and gravel were mineral in character within the meaning of the statutory reservation, and the Department of Fish and Game answered, denying that sand and gravel were minerals, and further setting up by way of an affirmative defense the fact that the Land Board must first obtain the consent of the Department prior to leasing minerals on Department land, and that such consent had reasonably been withheld.

At the hearing in the lower court, it was stipulated that there are certain quantities of sand and gravel on the land in question and that these substances could be used in a commercially feasible manner if located near areas where there was a significant demand. Counsel for the Land Board asked the court to take judicial notice of the communities in northeastern Utah where there might be

a market for sand and gravel substances (T. 4-6). It is reasonably clear from the stipulation that the sand and gravel in question are common varieties without any peculiar or unique features.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

SAND AND GRAVEL ARE NOT MINERALS WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 65-1-16, U. C. A. 1953.

The first question for determination is whether sand and gravel are to be considered mineral deposits within the meaning of Section 65-1-16, U. C. A. 1953, which provides as follows:

"All applications to purchase, approved subsequent to May 12, 1919, shall be subject to a reservation to the state of all coal and other mineral deposits in said lands, with the right to the state or persons authorized by it to prospect for, mine and remove the same as provided by law, and all certificates of sale and all patents issued therefor shall contain such reservation."

It is clear that all minerals included within the above language were reserved by the State of Utah when it issued its patent under date of March 18, 1946, and the State still holds and controls minerals so reserved in the section of land in question. When the Department of Fish and Game purchased the land, it acquired everything that the private seller had obtained from the State of Utah, but, of course,

did not acquire any greater rights than the State had relinguished to the private purchaser.

The State of Utah has never considered sand and gravel to be minerals within the statutory language quoted above. The specific question was raised, however, in 1955 when the State Land Board inquired as to whether these substances could be considered minerals, and the Attorney General ruled that they were not. See Opinion 55-088 issued under date of August 16, 1955 and appearing in Biennial Report of Attorney General, June 30, 1956, at page 166. After reviewing a number of cases, Attorney General E. R. Callister observed:

"In view of the foregoing authorities, it is the opinion of this office that gravel is not within the meaning of our statute subject to reservation by the State of Utah in the absence of express language in the conveyance to that effect."

Then, under date of July 9, 1956, Attorney General E. R. Callister answered a further question posed by the State Land Board, i.e., whether clay could be considered a mineral within the mineral reservation clause. See Opinion 56-075, dated July 9, 1956, Biennial Report of Attorney General, June 30, 1958, at page 189. The Attorney General in that opinion reviewed a considerable number of cases from Utah and other jurisdictions and concluded that clay had a special intrinsic quality which justified its treatment as a mineral. But, the Attorney General was careful to distinguish clay from sand and gravel:

"There are cases on both sides of this question and an attempt has been made to reach a rational conclusion based upon the intention of the Legislature, and on a careful consideration of the intrinsic qualities of clay itself as compared with ordinary soil deposits or sand and gravel.

· * * *

"Clay is to be distinguished from such other components of the earth's under surface as sand and gravel by its distinct mineral composition, whereas sand and gravel for general commercial use are merely aggregations of rocks or conglomerations of mineral fragments.

··* * *

"The value of sand and gravel as distinguished from clay, usually is entirely dependent on location and accessibility, and they are not of distinct or unusual worth in and of themselves since substitutions of other materials can be made in such filling, grading and cement making operations."

The following year the Attorney General was further asked by the State Land Board whether volcanic cinders could be considered mineral in character within the meaning of the mineral reserve clause. Attorney General E. R. Callister concluded that volcanic cinders properly were mineral in nature. See Opinion 57-031, issued under date of April 11, 1957, appearing in Biennial Report of the Attorney General, June 30, 1958, at page 195. Again the Attorney General was careful to explain that sand and gravel clearly were not mineral in character, even though it might appear that they were similar in some respects to volcanic cinders:

"The two types of substances which are the common exceptions from the definition as minerals when found under this state's surface are gravel and ordinary sand. They are valuable only in respect to their use as fill and in respect to their location. They are not generally considered to be intrinsically valuable in and of themselves.

"As to volcanic cinders, they might or might not have intrinsic value, depending on the use to which they are put. Certainly, they could be used as sand and gravel are used.

"However, the usual use made of such cinders is in the making of building blocks. Their unique value in such process is their extremely light weight combined with strength. Because of this they are of more use than other substances in such construction."

It is submitted that the foregoing opinions of the Attorney General are correct, although it must be recognized that there is a difference of judicial opinion as to whether sand and gravel should be considered to be mineral in character. The pattern of decisions relating to whether sand and gravel could be minerals for the purpose of making valid locations under the Federal mining laws is interesting. The Supreme Court of Oregon in Loney v. Scott, 57 Ore. 378, 112 Pac. 172, held that sand and gravel could be considered mineral under the mining laws, and pointed out the economic uses to which sand and gravel were then being employed. The Federal Land Department apparently disagreed with the Loney conclusion. (See Zimmerman v. Bennson, 39 L. D. 310; Lindley on Mines, Vol. 1, 3rd Ed., Sec. 93.) Thereafter, the Secretary of the Interior determined that sand and gravel could be considered mineral in character. (See Layman v. Ellis, 52 L. D. 714 (1929) and United States v. Barngrover, 57 I. D. 533 (1942).)

The most significant factor in the Federal pattern, however, is that Congress did not agree with the geological niceties perceived by the Secretary of the Interior, and in the Act of July 23, 1955, 69 Stat. 368, 30 U. S. C. A., Sec. 611, Congress specifically provided:

"No deposit of common varieties of sand, stone, gravel, pumice, pumicite, or cinders and no deposit of petrified wood shall be deemed a valuable mineral deposit within the meaning of the mining laws of the United States so as to give effective validity to any mining claim hereafter located under such mining laws."

It is obvious that Congress either never had intended that sand and gravel should be considered to be minerals locatable under the Federal mining laws, or that, if such a treatment had been justified under earlier statutes, Congress felt that there was no longer any justification for treating common varieties of such substances as mineral. It is believed that the Utah Legislature would take the same view if this court were to declare sand and gravel to be mineral in their common varieties.

Utah case law on the question under discussion is not very helpful. It is true that this court has ruled that minerals can include substances removed from the earth by processes other than subterranean excavations. (See Nephi Plaster and Manufacturing Co. v. Juab County, 33 Utah 114, 93 Pac. 53 (1907), wherein it was held that gypsum was a mineral.) The Utah court has also ruled that salt in solution in the Great Salt Lake was mineral in character because of the great quantity contained in the waters of

the lake. (See Deseret Livestock v. State, 110 Utah 239, 171 P. 2d 401 (1946)). However, there is no language in the Utah cases suggesting that sand and gravel of common varieties would be mineral. In fact, there is some rational basis for believing that the general legislative intent was to exclude common varieties of sand and gravel from the mineral reserve clause. These substances are commonly found at or near the surface of the earth in a variety of mixtures and qualities and are, in fact, part of the earth itself, and in many cases part of the surface of the earth. Section 65-1-17, U. C. A. 1953, suggests that minerals are underground deposits as distinguished from surface substances:

"Lands in which minerals are reserved, the surface of which has a value for other purposes, may be sold under the provisions of law relating to the sale of state lands, subject to such reservation."

Section 65-1-20, U. C. A. 1953, similarly distinguishes between surface uses by surface owners and mineral development and extraction by those having mineral interests. There simply is nothing in Utah legislation suggesting that common varieties of sand and gravel were contemplated by the Legislature in the mineral reserve clause.

Turning now to a consideration of general case law in other jurisdictions, it must be admitted that there is a split of judicial authority. All cases agree that common varieties of sand and gravel in marginal quantities, not commercially valuable, are not minerals within the meaning of either a statutory reservation or a private reservation or grant. The split in authority appears when usually val-

uable deposits of sand and gravel of high quality or unique characteristics are discovered. In such situations some courts have held that those substances should be treated as mineral and some courts have held that they should not. It cannot be denied that sand and gravel are mineral in nature within a very broad classification, because many substances not considered to be mineral within the meaning of mineral grants and reservations must be classified as mineral within such broad geological classifications. This is illustrated by the following summary:

"While the word 'minerals' includes, in a technical sense, all natural inorganic substances forming a part of the soil, the term is used in so many senses, dependent upon the context, that such a definition is obviously too broad, for it would throw little, if any, light upon what was meant in a particular case. So, to apply the word in the signification in which it is employed in the scientific division of all matter into the traditional three kingdoms, to a grant of land containing an exception of the minerals, would be absurd, since all land belongs to the mineral kingdom, and the exception could not be given effect without destroying the grant. * * *"

(Am. Jur., Vol. 36, page 283.)

But one should not be misled into thinking that such a broad classification of the term "mineral" can have any realistic probative value in ascertaining the legislative intent in the mineral reserve clause. While various substances have been considered to be mineral in nature, the general judicial rule is that sand and gravel are not:

"In application of the foregoing principles of construction, an unqualified grant or reservation

of minerals has been held to include not only the coal, iron, etc., but also such substances as oil and gas, diamonds, fluor spar, gypsum, granite, shale, paint stone, pulpstone, freestone, and other substances. Limestone is not included in a grant or reservation of minerals and neither is sand, gravel or clay. * * * (Am. Jur., Vol. 36, Sec. 35, pp. 306-07.)

The foregoing general rule as stated by American Jurisprudence is confirmed by Corpus Juris Secundum:

"In a broad, general sense, as belonging to one of the three great divisions of matter, animal, vegetable, and mineral, gravel and sand may be considered as minerals, but in a commercial sense, they have been held, according to the circumstances of the particular case, to be minerals and also not to be minerals." (C. J. S., Vol. 58, Sec. 2(3), page 21.)

Speaking more specifically with regard to statutory and deed language either granting or reserving minerals, the following general rule is announced:

"Sand and gravel ordinarily are not included within a grant or reservation of minerals or of mineral royalty, although there is on the land involved sand or gravel susceptible of commercial production and use. * * " (C. J. S., Vol. 58, Sec. 155, pp. 324-25.)

There are a great number of cases which could be quoted and argued at length for both the pro and con position as to whether common varieties of sand and gravel should be minerals. Generally, those cases holding sand and gravel in commercially valuable deposits to be mineral,

do so on the theory that such substances can be classified as mineral within broad geological definitions, and further. upon the ground that the legislative or grantor reservation was to reserve anything of broad mineral character which was commercially valuable beyond the specific purpose for which the land was sold. Those cases holding common varieties of sand and gravel not to be mineral in nature, without regard to whether they appear in commercially valuable deposits, have done so largely on the theory that sand and gravel are so common and compose such a substantial part of the surface, and under surface, of the land as to be beyond the statutory or grantor intent in the reservation of minerals; and further, that sand and gravel are not any particular mineral, but simply fragments of a great many different minerals (rocks) which have no value as to the particular minerals, but only as to the fragmentary aggregate. The general feeling seems to be that the Legislature, or the grantor, should specifically identify and reserve such common substances as sand and gravel if the intent is to reserve them, because otherwise they would not ordinarily be considered within a mineral reserve clause and should, therefore, pass to the grantee.

It is submitted that the past rulings of the Utah Attorney General are correct; that the history and pattern of mining locations under Federal statutes have shown that sand and gravel in common varieties should not be considered to be mineral; and that the statements quoted above from American Jurisprudence and Corpus Juris Secundum accurately state the general rules of judicial construction of mineral reserve clauses.

Without detailing the facts and rationale of each case, the following list of authorities is suggested as fully supporting the above quoted general rule that sand and gravel are not minerals:

Authorities

Cases:

Barker v. Mintz, 215 Pac. 534 (Colo., 1923)

Beck v. Harvey, 164 P. 2d 399 (Okla., 1944)

Farrel v. Sayre, 270 P. 2d 190 (Colo., 1954)

Hendler v. Lehigh Valley R. Co., 58 A. 486 (Pa., 1904)

Holloway Gravel Co. v. McKowen, 9 So. 2d 228 (La., 1942)

Irion v. Lyons, 113 So. 857 (La.)

Kinder v. LaSalle County Carbon Coal Co., 141 N. E. 537 (Ill., 1923)

Lillington Stone Co. v. Maxwell, 166 S. E. 351 (North Carolina, 1932)

Lord Provost of Glasgow v. Farie, L. R., 13 App. Cas. 657

Psencik v. Wessells, 205 S. W. 2d 658 (Tex. 1947)

Shell Petroleum Corp. v. Liberty Gravel & Sand Co., 128 S. W. 2d 471 (Tex. Civ. App.)

Staples v. Young, 1 Ir. Rep. 135 (1908)

State v. Hendrix, 167 P. 2d 43 (Okla., 1946)

Steinman Development Co. v. W. M. Ritter Lumber Co., 290 Fed. 832 (D. C., 1922)

U. S. v. Aitken, 25 Philippine 7, 14

Waring v. Foden, 1 Ch. 276 (Eng., 1936)

Watkins v. Certain-Teed Products Corp., 231 S. W. 2d 981 (Tex. Civ. App.)

Winsett v. Watson, 206 S. W. 2d 656 (Tex., 1947)

Witherspoon v. Campbell, 69 So. 2d 384 (Miss.)

Treatises:

17 A. L. R. 166

86 A. L. R. 969, 989

1 A. L. R. 2d 790

It is believed that the court's attention should be called to a matter of practical consequence. The issue on appeal will have a stare decisis result which will affect every person who has purchased lands from the State of Utah. Up to this point, the Land Board, as well as the purchasers, has believed that sand and gravel were not minerals and. therefore, that these sustances passed with the land to the purchaser. This is obvious from the fact that the Land Board has accepted and relied upon the opinions from the Attorney General's office for the last nine years without questioning them in any legal proceeding until the present one. No private owners of land purchased from the State are parties to this proceeding. But, if this court determines that common varieties of sand and gravel are mineral within the meaning of the reserve clause, these private parties will automatically be divested of a valuable aspect of ownership which both they and the Land Board previously thought had passed to private ownership.

Another practical problem is that the Land Board presently is leasing as sand and gravel simple fill dirt

which is utilized by the Department of Highways in the construction of the freeway program and other road projects. Perhaps no particular problem is involved when a lease of that nature is executed between two State agencies of that type. But a problem has arisen in the instant case in that deposits of sand and gravel could be sold by the lessee for fill dirt purposes. It might be argued that the sand and gravel could not be extracted from the earth unless it was being used for specific commercial sand and gravel purposes and not as fill dirt, but the practical fact is if the lessee removes the substances containing some common varieties of sand and gravel, he is doing so because it is commercially practicable for him to do so. It would thus be difficult to judicially regulate the removal of the surface of the earth which had some deposits of sand and gravel in order to determine whether these substances. after their removal, were being utilized for a legitimate purpose.

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