1965

State Land Board v. State Department of Fish and Game : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE SAND AND GRAVEL DEPOSITS ON THE SUBJECT LANDS ARE MINERALS WITHIN THE MEANING OF 65-1-15 AND 16, U.C.A. 1953, AND THE RESERVATIONS CONTAINED IN THE CERTIFICATE OF SALE AND PATENT COVERED THE SUBJECT LANDS.

65-1-15, U.C.A. 1953, provides:

“All coal and other mineral deposited in lands belonging to the state of Utah are hereby reserved to the state. Such deposits are reserved from sale, except on a rental and royalty basis as provided by law, and the purchaser of any lands belonging to the state shall acquire no right, title or interest in or to such deposits, but the rights of such purchaser shall be subject to the reservation of all coal and other mineral deposits, and to the conditions and limitations prescribed by law providing for the state and persons authorized by it to prospect or mine, and to remove such deposits, and to occupy and use so much of the surface of said lands as may be required for all purposes reasonably incident to the mining and removal of such deposits therefrom;
* * *

“Salts and other minerals in the waters of navigable lakes and streams are likewise reserved to the state and shall be sold by the state land board only upon royalty basis. * * *”

65-1-16, U.C.A. 1953, provides:

“All applications to purchase, approved subsequent to May 12, 1919, shall be subject to a reservation to the state of all coal and other mineral deposits in said

lands, with the right to the state or persons authorized by it to prospect for, mine and remove the same as provided by law, and all certificates of sale and all patents issued therefor shall contain such reservation.”

Both these sections were enacted prior to the time the State Land Board made any disposition of the subject lands. Laws of Utah, 1919, Ch. 107, § 1.

From the above sections it is clear that the Legislature intended to reserve all mineral resource in State lands that may be valuable. The support of the common schools was best served by such a reservation. The fact that the Legislature has sought to mention salts of navigable lakes and streams makes it rather obvious that the Legislature intended a broad definition of minerals, and since sand and gravel when recoverable in commercial quantities clearly fit into that category, the trial court's determination that the sand and gravel in the subject lands was reserved is clearly correct.

Further, in addition to the statutory limitations above mentioned, the reservations placed in the patent and certificate of sale issued by the Land Board evidence an intent to carry out the statutory mandate to its fullest extent.

Mineral

It is, of course, obvious that whether the sand and gravel involved in this lawsuit is reserved to the Land Board or is held by the Department of Fish and Game depends upon what is encompassed by the term “mineral” as it is used in 65-1-15 and 16, U.C.A. 1953, and the patent and certificate of sale reservations, which are obviously included to implement the statute.

The question of what substances are mineral and what substances are non-mineral has been treated by the Utah

courts in a fairly definitive fashion. In *Nephi Plaster and Manufacturing Co. v. Juab County*, 33 Utah 114, 93 Pac. 53 (1907), the Utah Supreme Court ruled that gypsum, which bears geological similarities to sand gravel, is a mineral. The court ruled that mines and minerals were not limited to subterranean excavations nor to metalliferous deposits. The court cited with approval the decision of the United States Supreme Court in *Northern Pacific Ry. Co. v. Soderberg*, 188 U.S. 526 (1903), where the Supreme Court held that granite quarries were mineral in character. It was argued in the *Nephi Plaster* case, which concerned the taxability of certain substances, that the constitution defining taxable minerals should be construed on the basis of the ejusdem generis rule. The provision and statute in question bore similarity to 65-1-16, U.C.A. 1953, which was subsequently adopted in 1919. The court rejected the contention that ejusdem generis was applicable, and indicated that the construction of the statute was such that the Legislature could not have contemplated the application of the ejusdem generis or other limiting rule. The court stated:

“* * * From the foregoing it thus seems clear to us that where we find the terms ‘mines and minerals’ used in grants or in reservations, in instruments of conveyance, in statutes or constitutions, under the modern construction the former is not limited to mere subterranean excavations or workings, nor is the latter limited to the metals or metalliferous deposits, whether contained in veins that have well-defined walls or in beds or deposits that are irregular and are found at or near the surface or otherwise.”

In *Deseret Livestock Co. v. State*, 110 Utah 239, 171 P.2d 401 (1946), this court considered the question of whether salt in solution was a mineral. The court quoted from 36

Am. Jur., *Mines and Minerals*, Section 4, and adopted the accepted legal definition of minerals contained therein. The court stated:

“* * * ‘Accordingly a number of authorities prefer to define a “mineral” as any natural substance having sufficient value to be mined, quarried, or extracted for its own sake or its own specific use.’ Under this definition it is apparent that the salt found in the waters of Great Salt Lake because of its quantity is a ‘mineral’ and is valuable for its own sake.”

Further, the court stated:

“Under the Federal mining statutes and the rulings of the courts, the word ‘minerals’ includes not only such valuable metals as gold, silver, cinnabar, lead, tin, copper, and iron, but also such varied substances as agate, diamonds, coal, asphaltum, petroleum, natural gas, shale, granite, limestone, marble, slate, feldspar, fluor spar, *building sand, gypsum, silica rock, paint stone*, borax, sulphur, alum, carbonate and nitrate of soda, water, saline springs and deposits, etc.”

It is apparent, therefore, that Utah precedent has adopted the position that, if the substance under consideration is sufficiently valuable to be sought for its own sake apart from the soil, the substance may be deemed mineral. Accepting this well established definition as the premise, it is apparent that sand and gravel is a mineral within that definition.

Geological Evidence

Volume III, 1963, *Minerals Yearbook, Area Reports*, page 1080, notes that in the year 1963 there was produced in Utah sand and gravel of a value of \$20,954,000. This clearly evidences the fact that sand and gravel, when found in sufficient quantity and quality to be commercially mar-

ketable, satisfies the definition of mineral noted in the above cases.

In *Mineral and Water Resources of Utah*, Bulletin 73, 1964, published by the Utah Geological and Mineralogical Survey, it is noted:

“Sand and gravel deposits consist of unconsolidated rock fragments which have been moved and sorted by natural processes so that most of the finer and very coarse fragments have been separated from them. Sand and gravel are widely used in the construction industry because they provide strength, durability, and bulk at low unit cost. Because they are so abundant, so universally used, and relatively low priced, their mineral resource value has not always been fully appreciated. * * *

“The large quantities of sand and gravel used in the State reflect the abundant supply of high quality material available to the consumer at low cost. Much of the material can be used with minimum screening, washing, and crushing; transportation costs are minimal because of the proximity of many source areas to transportation facilities and to the principal users.

* * *

“The market for sand and gravel has progressively expanded up to the present and will probably continue to increase in the future, particularly in the expanding urban areas. The resources of sand and gravel are ample to supply the market in the foreseeable future. Large construction projects, such as the Flaming Gorge Dam, make large but temporary demands on normally little developed deposits away from the large urban areas. Much of the material in the eastern and southern parts of the State is in presently inaccessible canyons. Locally, some sand and gravel deposits are becoming unavailable for use in some of the rapidly expanding urban areas. In such areas, more expensive

crushed rock, lightweight aggregate, or other materials may partially supplant sand and gravel in the construction industry.”

It is apparent from this that sand and gravel have a high commercial value in Utah when it is found in sufficient quantity and quality as to be commercially usable. Further, it is apparent that valuable deposits of sand and gravel are rather well defined in Utah and are certainly considered mineral by geologists and mineralogists.

Further, it is well settled that sand and gravel in general have a recognized industrial mineral worth. In *Industrial Minerals and Rocks*, 3rd Ed., (Mudd Series), it is stated:

“Sand and gravel together constitute the *mineral raw materials* of largest volume produced from the earth. In 1958, as reported by the U.S. Bureau of Mines, 680,080,000 tons of sand and gravel (including industrial sand) were produced in the United States. The nearest competitor was crushed rock of which 532,818,000 tons were produced. Coal, both bituminous and anthracite accounted for only 431,616,689 tons in the same year. In dollar value, sand and gravel were exceeded only by cement, crushed rock and fuels. *Hence it is a major unit of the mineral-producing industry.* As an example, one plant in California operates around the clock at an average rate of 1,500 tons per hour, and at peak intervals has shipped over 4,000 tons per hour, all by trucks. Nevertheless, it is controlled by one man through a panel of push buttons that control the crushing, screening, washing, grading, stock piling, and reclaiming of the products.”

Further, contrary to some opinions, it is apparent that there are definitive geological specifications defining sand and gravel, and that the industry has reached a rather sophisticated standard of determining the value of sand

and gravel deposits and identifying the length and depth of sand and gravel beds. *Industrial Minerals and Rocks*, *supra*, 739, 741.

Further, geologists, although defining sand and gravel as consisting of "continuously graded unconsolidated materials," clearly recognize that commercial sand and gravel deposits are generally classified geologically into four categories, and have been able to define with substantial specificity the geological and mineralogical qualities of commercial sand and gravel, such that persons reasonably acquainted with the substance have definite standards for determining what in fact is sand and gravel as distinct from worthless alluvium.

Further, there are definite recognized forms of mining, quarrying, and dredging sand and gravel, and the processing and manufacturing involves sophisticated plant design and processing. *Industrial Minerals and Rocks*, 745, 758. See also Bates, *Geology of the Industrial Rocks and Minerals*, Ch. 5, p. 82 (1960).

There is no question that sand and gravel have recognizable characteristics such that when found in sufficient quantity to be commercially valuable, are clearly recognizable from other earth substances and from the soil itself. Thus, in *Mineral Facts and Problems*, Bulletin 585, (Bureau of Mines 1960), p. 706, it is stated:

"Methods of formation and deposition have imparted physical characteristics to sands and gravels that largely determine the commercial value for a particular use and influence the manner of exploitation.
* * *

This same work supports the position that sand and gravel is an identifiable geological mineral which has sub-

stantial worth in commercial industry. It is further recognized that extracting processes are such that sand and gravel is recoverable by recognized mining techniques. Mineral Facts and Problems, *supra*, 706, 707.

Therefore, from what has been noted above as to the geological and mineralogical aspects of sand and gravel, it is apparent that this substance, when related to the judicial test laid down in the *Nephi Plaster* and *Deseret Livestock* cases, *supra*, is mineral, depending upon the quantity and quality of the deposit. In the instant case it is stipulated by the parties that the sand and gravel present upon the subject lands is in such quantities and of such quality as to be commercially minable and marketable. It is obvious, therefore, that under any reasonable definition of mineral — judicial, mineralogical, or industrial — the present deposits must be deemed mineral and hence encompassed within the statutory reservation.

Opinion of Attorney General.

The appellant relies in part for its contention that sand and gravel is not a mineral within the reservation provisions of 65-1-15 and 16, Utah Code Annotated 1953, on an opinion of the Attorney General (55-088, Biennial Report 1956, page 166), wherein the Attorney General ruled that sand and gravel was not mineral. It is submitted that the appellant can take no comfort from this contention. There is no evidence before the court that the Land Board ever relied upon the opinion of the Attorney General in advancing or relinquishing any claims to sand and gravel deposits. To the contrary, the fact that the instant controversy is before the court itself rebuts the contention that the Land Board has followed the interpretation of the Attorney General. Consequently, there is no long history of

administrative interpretation or legislative acquiescence in such interpretation which would support a conclusion that the provisions of 65-1-15 and 16 intended to exclude sand and gravel from the definition of mineral.

Further, the opinion of the Attorney General, it is respectfully submitted, lacks any real substance. First, the opinion did not consider a definition of the term "mineral" nor did the opinion mention or consider the application of the *Nephi Plaster* case, *supra*, or the *Deseret Livestock* case, *supra*. The opinion cited cases not involving legislative enactments but construction of reservation clauses in deeds. It is obvious that there is a substantial difference between the intention of the parties to a deed where they are dealing with specific parcels of land and the intention of a legislature providing for a broad policy that would reserve the mineral wealth of the state for the common schools. In the latter case, no specific parcels of land were involved but rather an intent to encompass the broadest form of the definition of the term "mineral" so that the wealth existing in state lands, which has worth separate and apart from the agricultural uses of the land, shall be reserved for the common schools. It is submitted that it was the intention of the Utah Legislature to define the term "mineral" as broad as possible. This is evidenced by three factors in 65-1-15, U.C.A. 1953. First, the term "salts" is used with reference to other minerals, evidences a legislative awareness that the term mineral is not limited to subterranean material or metalliferous ores. Second, the language of 65-1-15 totally prohibits the State from alienating its mineral interests, thus evidencing an across-the-board policy applicable to all minerals. Third, the only area which the Legislature excepted from the reservation of minerals to the State in any sale

of lands was where the lands were "improved farm lands," thus indicating that where the primary purpose for acquisition of the land was agricultural and where the predominant use of the lands would be for farming, inconsistent mineral uses should not be allowed. This indicates that the Legislature intended that the term mineral be distinct from agricultural, thus giving the term "mineral" the broadest possible construction. Consequently, it is apparent that there are several weaknesses to the above mentioned Attorney General's opinion.

It is noteworthy that subsequently, the Attorney General was asked to pass upon the question of whether clay would be deemed to be reserved as a mineral within the statutory reservations. In that opinion (56-075, Biennial Report 1958, page 189),¹ the Attorney General answered in the affirmative and expressly mentioned both the *Deseret Livestock* case and the *Nephi Plaster* case, and relied upon at least one early decision of the Department of Interior (*Aldritt v. Northern Pacific Railroad Co.*, 25 L.D. 349). The Attorney General concluded that since clay was valuable in its own right, apart from the agricultural and soil usages, it would be deemed mineral within the definition of mineral as adopted by prior Utah cases. Subsequently, the Attorney General ruled that volcanic cinders were reserved as minerals (57-031, Biennial Report 1958, page 195). There is no rational basis for saying that if volcanic cinders and clay are to be deemed minerals because they are valuable in their own right, defined sand and gravel deposits of commercial worth, which are also valuable in their own right, are not mineral. Consistency of definition, both legal and mineralogical, requires a determination that sand and

¹ This opinion was apparently written by a different assistant attorney general.

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